IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD ALEXANDER JENKINS,

Appellant.

v.

STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Feb 03 2022 11:47 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 83465

APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF

**APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND
SENTENCING**

NINTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
STATE OF NEVADA

THE HONORABLE THOMAS W. GREGORY, PRESIDING

Richard F. Cornell, Esq.
RICHARD F. CORNELL, P.C.
150 Ridge Street, Second Floor
Reno, Nevada 89501
775/329-1141
richardcornell1553@gmail.com
Attorneys for Appellant

Chelsea Mazza, Deputy DA
Douglas Co. District Attorney
PO Box 218
Minden, NV 89423
775/782-9800
cmazza@douglas.nv.gov

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. ROUTING STATEMENT

As this was a jury trial on a category B felony, this appeal stays with the Nevada Supreme Court per NRAP 17(b)(2)(A). It should stay there anyway because it raises two questions of first impression: a) When, if ever, can a lewdness conviction occur when a defendant does not touch the prosecutrix skin-to-skin on her private parts? B) When, if ever, can a “cold” “Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome” expert testify in a lewdness case?

B. STATEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Appellant, RICHARD ALEXANDER JENKINS, was charged by Information (AAvI: 1-4) and Amended Information (AAv1: 63-65) with four counts of Lewdness with a Child Under 16 Years of Age, a violation of NRS 201.230(1)(a) and (3), a category B felony. The alleged victim in each count was a 14-year-old child with the fictitious name of “Cory Collins,” but whose actual name for our purposes is “G.W.” All four counts were alleged in the same timeframe of July 1, 2018 to September 25, 2018, with Count I occurring at the Appellant’s home and the other counts occurring at the Douglas County Community Center in Douglas County, Nevada. (*Id.*) This appeal is largely (albeit not exclusively) driven by the litigation and outcome of pre-trial motions.

The State filed a Motion to Admit Evidence of Appellant’s Prior “Sexual” Acts Pursuant to NRS 48.045(3), or Alternatively Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts Under NRS 48.045(2). (See: AA_v1: 5-21) Over objection, that Motion ultimately was granted. (See: AA_v2: 444-453)

Appellant objected to proffered testimony of an expert witness, Blake Carmichael, Ph.D. (See: AA_v2: 432-439) After evidentiary hearing, the court below (the Honorable Thomas W. Gregory) permitted Dr. Carmichael to testify. (AA_v3: 614-622)

Appellant first filed a Motion to Compel Production of Complete Video Surveillance at the Douglas County Community Center (AA_v1: 73-76), and then a Motion to Suppress Manipulated Douglas County Community Center Video Surveillance Clips. (AA_v2: 345-354) But the court below denied the Motion to Compel Production of Video Surveillance (AA_v2: 407-408) and denied the Motion in Limine to Suppress Video Surveillance Clips (AA_v2: 453-463)¹.

As referenced below, this case concerns the accusation that Appellant, a “father figure” to G.W., at various times touched G.W. on her clothing covering private parts over her buttocks, without saying anything sexually suggestive at any time. Notwithstanding, and notwithstanding her prior false allegations of sexual

¹ In fairness, Appellant also filed a Motion to Permit Evidence of Prior False Allegations of Sexual Assault by “G.W.” (AA_v2: 22-27) and that motion was granted. (AA_v2: 440-443)

assault, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. At sentencing, the court below imposed the maximum possible sentence of a maximum term of 480 months (40 years) with a minimum parole eligibility of 192 months (16 years).

The Judgment of Conviction was filed August 13, 2021. (AAv8: 1810-12) The Notice of Appeal was filed August 20, 2021. (AAv8: 1813-14) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015(3).

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The alleged victim, “G.W.” was born September 16, 2004, meaning that she was 16-years-old on the day of her testimony and 13-14 when the alleged offenses happened. (AAv6: 1270)

G.W. lost her stepfather, Wayne, on June 9, 2018. (Id. at 1272-73) After that she grew close to the Appellant. (Id. at 1273) He was an assistant coach on the “Jobs Peak” volleyball team, for which G.W. played. (Id. at 1270-72)

She knew the Appellant through her friend, Alyssa, who was the Appellant’s daughter. (Id. at 1273) They watched movies in the living room, with Appellant in the middle, and Alyssa and G.W. on either side of him. (Id. at 1278) G.W. would spend the night at the Appellant’s home with Alyssa. (Id. at 1275-76)

About a month after Wayne passed, the Appellant wrapped his arm around her waist while she was leaning on him. (Id. at 1278) A few months later, he put his hand somewhere on the clothing covering her butt. She kind of scooted away

somewhat. He asked her if she felt uncomfortable and she said no. At that point she enjoyed her time with the Appellant. (Id. at 1278-79) She had gone on trips with the Appellant and Alyssa. (Id. at 1280)

When Appellant had put his hands down G.W.'s pants, he slid down "a little bit." He did not touch her vagina, but got "towards the top" of touching her vagina. (Id. at 1281)

At the "rec center" the Appellant hugged her and held her for a little while and touched her clothing covering her butt on occasions, then gave her a kiss on either her cheek or her neck. (Id. at 1281-82) They basically went into the equipment room closet to hug each other. (Id. at 1282) He did "about the same thing" underneath the staircase at the rec center. (Id. at 1283) He also touched her on the clothing covering her butt outside the arcade. (Id. at 1284)

The first time she reported the incidents she had a "father-daughter" relationship with the Appellant. (Id. at 1285) She came forward and told her story to the police the second time because a volleyball coach, Marie Foster, talked to her about past experiences she had. (Id. at 1286) In her first interview of September 27, 2018, she told the police that nothing happened between her and the Appellant other than hugging. In the first interview she told the police that the Appellant never touched her on any private part of her body. (Id. at 1293) She told the police nothing sexual ever happened between her and the Appellant. (Id. at

1294) She also told the police there was never a time when the Appellant made her feel uncomfortable. She told the police she never felt the Appellant touched her inappropriately. (Id. at 1295)

In her second interview of November 1, 2018 she told the police that Appellant would “touch her butt” in the “squishy room” at the rec center and at his home, every chance he could. (Id. at 1306-07) She told the police Appellant “touched her butt” in the equipment room of the rec center but not inside her pants. (Id. at 1308-09) She claimed in that interview that she told the police Appellant touched her on “the top of her butt.” (Id. at 1312)

She also claimed Appellant touched her “in the front” while in the “squishy room.” (Id. at 1324) He rubbed his hands on her back, but not on her butt. (Id. at 1325) He did not rub his hand on her “front area.” (Id.)

She told the police Appellant never touched her in her private areas. (Id. at 1320) She told the police that when the Appellant touched her “on the butt” while watching a movie (with his daughter), Appellant did not say anything and she did not say anything. (Id. at 1318-19) The police never asked her where exactly the Appellant touched her while she was in bed. (Id. at 1321-22)

Previously, she had claimed that her mother’s boyfriend, Gage, touched her “on her butt” while they were watching videos. She said that in a note she wrote to her teacher. She claimed that Gage stuck his hands under her covers and started

touching her. But now she does not believe Gage ever did that. What she told the teacher was “a misunderstanding.” (AAv6: 1327-33)

Ashley Jean Gosney played co-ed volleyball with the Appellant during the summer of 2018. (AAv4: 940-41) In the summer of 2018 she noticed the Appellant being more “interactive” with G.W. than the other players. She was touching Appellant’s back, he was holding her pinky finger, and he was embracing her more than anyone else. She did not notice him acting that way with anyone else. (Id. at 942-43) She saw the Appellant and [G.W.] in a long hug and what she thought to be a kiss. (Id. at 945) She did not see the Appellant grab the girl’s butt, touch her on the butt, or stick his hands down her pants. Nor did she see the Appellant touch [G.W.’s] vaginal area or her private parts. (Id. at 956-57) G.W. did not appear to be upset by Appellant’s behavior. (Id. at 957)

Nick Lonnegren, then Ms. Gosney’s boyfriend (AAv5: 972), saw the Appellant at the “rec center” sitting down with his back against the wall and “G.W.” sitting next to him. The Appellant rubbed her back shoulder area and then she laid down on his lap. (Id. at 974-75) He did not see the Appellant acting like that with any other player, including his daughter. (Id. at 977-78) He knew the Appellant and G.W. were in the storage room for three to four minutes, but did not see what went on there. He did not witness Appellant leaving with any equipment. But he did not express his concerns with anyone until after speaking with Ashley.

(AAv5: 978-80) He never saw the Appellant touch G.W. on her butt, vaginal area, or any private area. (AAv5: 993) It did not appear to him that Appellant was trying to “hide anything.” (Id. at 991) And in the physical contact between the two, G.W. initiated a lot of it. (Id. at 990-91)

Justin Williams, Sergeant with the Douglas County Sheriff’s Office, looked at clips of video surveillance in the Douglas County Community Center in September of 2018. (AAv5: 1187-90) He saw Appellant and G.W. embrace each other and saw G.W. nuzzle her face into the Appellant’s neck. (Id. at 1192) It appeared they exchanged a kiss on the neck or the cheek. The embrace lasted several seconds, and then the two walked away. (Id.) That action, in and of itself, is not illegal. (Id. at 1193-94) He looked only at video surveillance that the rec center provided him. (Id. at 1183)

Joe Girdner was the principal at Douglas High School in 2018 and knew the Appellant, who was a volunteer volleyball coach. (AAv5: 1207) He had a situation with the Appellant where, while coaching the girl’s tennis team, G.W. walked up behind Appellant and leaned against his back and put her chin on his shoulder in an affectionate manner. (Id. at 1208-09) He learned that Appellant was a “father figure” after her stepfather had passed away and was a source of support for the family. Based on G.W.’s mother’s information, it was a safe relationship. (Id. at 1209-10) Otherwise, the witness never observed any inappropriate conduct

between the Appellant and his daughter, and described the behavior between the Appellant and G.W. as not sexual in nature, but simply abnormal. (Id. at 1211-AAv6: 1212). And when G.W. was leaning on the Appellant, his hands did not do anything. He did not try to touch her or grab her. (AAv6: 1215)

Caylyn Keith, whom Appellant coached in 8th grade (AAv6: 1225-26) observed Appellant in August, 2018 put his hands on G.W.’s waist and rotated her hips as part of her volleyball serving motion. (Id. at 1227-28)

Tamera Woodbridge, the mother of G.W. (AAv6: 1237-38), became close friends with Alyssa Jenkins and the Appellant. (Id. at 1239) In the summer of 2018 G.W. had lost her stepfather, Wayne Mazafaro. G.W. seemed lost and Alyssa was her only friend. (Id. at 1242)

G.W. is a very “touchy person.” She was very close to Wayne and she very much looked up to him. (Id. at 1248)

Initially when the rumors happened re inappropriate contact between G.W. and the Appellant, G.W. told her that everything was fine and the Appellant had never touched her inappropriately. (Id. at 1260)

G.W.’s allegation against Gage caused the police to investigate, but at some point they closed the investigation. (Id. at 1261-64)

Kurt Ahart, another then-employee of the “rec center” (AAv6 : 1408), saw G.W. kiss Appellant on the neck. He also saw them “playfully push” each other.

(Id. at 1412) He emphasized that the touching was “affectionate.” (Id. at 1418) He had seen Appellant and G.W. interact on other occasions, and did not see anything inappropriate. (Id. at 1420) He never saw Appellant grab G.W.’s butt, touch it, or stick his hands down her pants. (Id. at 1421) He never touched her private areas. (Id. at 1422)

Erica Jenicki had a child, Bella, who played for Appellant in high school. (AAv7: 1462) On one occasion while dining at a restaurant, she saw Appellant and another young female (G.W.) seated in a way that made her feel uncomfortable. (See: Id. at 1463-66) On another occasion she felt uncomfortable seeing Appellant and G.W. at the “Silverstate Volleyball Club,” as they almost seemed to have the kind of relationship as “teenagers would have.” (Id. at 1466-68) But on neither occasion did she see Appellant touch G.W.’s vagina, private areas, butt, or any in other sexual manner. (Id. at 1472)²

Nadine Chrzanowski, an investigator for the Douglas County Sheriff’s Office (AAv7: 1497), interviewed G.W. three times. (Id. at 1503) On the first interview she indicated the relationship between her and Appellant was more of a father/daughter type relationship. She used the term “family love” and “touchy.” (Id. at 1503) G.W. stated there was nothing “sexualized” about their relationship. (Id. at 1508)

² The daughter in question, Bella Guerrazzi, repeated that testimony. See: AAv7: 1475-84.

Blake Carmichael is a clinical psychologist who specializes in child sex abuse cases. (AAv6: 1436-37)

Dr. Carmichael talked about grooming, which has several levels in a sexual relationship. These levels generally consist of establishing contact, maintaining contact, and then integrating sexual contact into the existing relationship. (Id. at 1440-41)

The idea is that as the contact becomes more sexualized or inappropriate, it may not be recognized as such by the child. (Id. at 1441-42)

He emphasized that grooming does not necessarily involve threatening a child not to tell. (Id. at 1442) He indicated that eating together or going on trips together can be part of grooming. (Id. at 1442-43) And it is possible for the child to enjoy these activities, and often times love the perpetrator for what he does. (Id. at 1443)

And he indicated that touching on the back or a kiss on the forehead that becomes more to the lower back masks the inappropriate part of the touching. (Id. at 1444)

Watching movies together can be a form of grooming. (Id. at 1445)

Dr. Carmichael indicated that there is no profile that fits child sexual perpetrators and that their activities are not always about sex. (Id. at 1447-48)

He also indicated that children react differently to the activities of such a perpetrator. (Id. at 1448) In some cases they delay disclosure. (Id. at 1449)

Children will deny sexual contact, then tell later. (Id. at 1450) Often times when the child does disclose, the child is unconvincing. (Id. at 1452)

Dr. Carmichael admitted that he had not been provided any information about this case and was not provided any reports to review. (Id. at 1456) He never interviewed anyone in this case. (Id. at 1457) He knows nothing about the nature of the allegations involved in this case. (Id.) He knows nothing about the age, name or history of the complaining child. He knows nothing about whether she has any psychological issues. He has no knowledge whether she has made a previous false allegation of sexual abuse. (Id. at 1457-58) He knows nothing about the timeline of disclosure in this case. (Id. at 1457-58) He has no idea who talked to the alleged victim before her disclosure. (Id. at 1458) He has no idea what was going on in her life at the time of disclosure. (Id.) He knows nothing about the Appellant or his family. (Id. at 1459)

In the defense case-in-chief, **Richard Jenkins** described an affectionate, physical relationship with his daughter, Alyssa. (AAv7: 1556-57) He began interacting with G.W. in the spring of 2018. (Id. at 1558) Alyssa and G.W.'s friendship increased during the summer of 2018. (Id. at 1558-59) They went river rafting and shopping together, raced remote control cars, and watched movies

together. (Id. at 1559) G.W. became closer to Appellant after her stepfather passed. (Id. at 1560) She was really clingy to everyone in the family except Appellant's girlfriend's son. (Id.) G.W. appeared to "mimic" his daughter's actions. (Id. at 1562)

Appellant went into the equipment room at the "rec center" by himself and also with Alyssa. (Id. at 1566) The "squishy room" was also G.W.'s and Alyssa's "little hang-out spot." They sat in that room without Appellant from time to time. (Id. at 1567) That room is wide open. (Id. at 1568)

When he watched movies at home, his girlfriend would watch with him, Alyssa, and G.W. (Id. at 1570) He never touched G.W.'s butt. (Id. at 1571) He never got into bed with her and Alyssa. (Id.)

Grabbing players – including G.W. – by the hips in order to serve the volleyball correctly is something that he has done with a number of players. (Id. at 1573)

In the incident under the stairwell he related that G.W. was emotional that day because she was missing her stepfather so badly. (Id. at 1575) He did not touch her on the butt during that incident. (Id. at 1576) There were other coaches and players 10-20 feet away from them at that time. (Id.)

He never touched G.W.'s butt while watching a movie at his house or while in the equipment room. (Id. at 1577) He did not put his hands down her pants in the equipment room or the squishy room. (Id. at 1578)

Alyssa Jenkins, over whom Appellant had full custody (AAv7: 1610), commonly sat with Appellant on his left side. G.W. would always be on the right side when she was there. (Id. at 1612) Alyssa and Appellant had a physical, affectionate relationship, hugging , squeezing, wrestling. (Id. at 1613-14) G.W. sometimes would copy her. (Id. at 1614-15) Both she and G.W. would go into the equipment room at the rec center to help set up volleyball. (Id. at 1615-16)

When the three watched movies together at her home, the question of G.W.'s "uncomfortableness" never came up. (Id. at 1617)

Christopher Field, who resided in the summer of 2018 with Appellant, his daughter, his girlfriend and her son (AAv7: 1624-25), described both Appellant and G.W. to be physically affectionate people. (Id. at 1627) G.W. would hug not only Appellant, but also everyone else in the home except Kim Copeland's son. (Id. at 1628) On one occasion G.W. tried to hold his hand. (Id. at 1629) He felt that G.W. would copy Alyssa's behavior towards Appellant. (Id. at 1630) G.W. said that she was jealous of Alyssa's relationship with Appellant. (Id. at 1631-32) He never saw the Appellant engage in sexually inappropriate behavior towards G.W.,

such as touching her butt, touching her private areas, or putting his hands down her pants. (Id. at 1632)

Other witnesses repeated their percipient testimony to the same effect. (See: testimony of Steve Noble (AAv7: 1641-59); testimony of Destiny Shull (AAv8: 1698-1713); testimony of Daniel Hannah, (AAv7: 1593-1601))

Kim Copeland, Appellant's then-girlfriend (AAv8: 1678), gave more of the same kind of testimony. (AAv8: 1058-78) Specifically, in the summer of 2018, G.W. became more and more physically affectionate with everyone in the family except Ryan. (Id. at 1683-85) G.W. confided in her about her home life. (Id. at 1686) She claimed that her stepfather, Gage, had raped her. (Id. at 1687)

Marie Foster's testimony is discussed separately below at pp. 28-29.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. IS THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION?

B. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION AND VIOLATE APPELLANT'S FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL AND TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE'S "CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE ACCOMMODATION SYNDROME" "COLD" EXPERT TO TESTIFY?

C. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION AND COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF UNCHARGED NON-SEXUALIZED TOUCHINGS BETWEEN APPELLANT AND G.W.? DID THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND TO A FAIR TRIAL?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE JUDGMENT OF GUILT OF LEWDNESS WITH A 14-TO-16-YEAR-OLD MINOR CHILD AS A MATTER OF STATE AND FEDERAL LAW.

1. Standard of Review

This Court has stated a standard of review re sufficiency of the evidence, which is consistent with the federal standard of Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 324, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2791-92 (1979): Whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt by evidence that was properly before it. This standard has also been articulated as whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, it is exclusively within the province of the trier of fact to weigh evidence and pass on the credibility of witnesses and their testimony. Lay v. State, 110 Nev. 1189, 1192, 886 P.2d 448, 450 (1994).

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