IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD ALEXANDER JENKINS,

No. 83465 Electronically Filed Mar 22 2022 05:12 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

RICHARD F. CORNELL, P.C. 150 Ridge Street, Second Floor

Reno, Nevada 89501

MARK B. JACKSON

Douglas County District Attorney

CHELSEA MAZZA

Deputy District Attorney

P.O. Box 218

Minden, Nevada 89423

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

2. Discussion

Jenkins' sufficiency of the evidence argument asks this Court to ignore the applicable standard of review by reweighing the evidence and resolve his perceived conflicting testimony in his favor. This Court should decline Jenkins' invitation to do so.

All four counts alleged that Jenkins committed a lewd and lascivious act upon the body of G.W., when she was under 16 years old, in that Jenkins did place his hand or hands down the front of the pants or shorts, and underneath the underwear of G.W. and did touch and/or rub her pubic area, and/or did touch and/or rub his hand or hands on her buttocks, with

the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of himself or the child at four distinct location. I AA 63. The prosecutor argued that this event occurred when Jenkins was located at his home, and at the Douglas County Recreation Center, in the "squishy room," underneath the stairwell, and in the equipment closet. I AA 63, VII AA 1780⁵.

Jenkins argues that the intent element of NRS 201.230 cannot be proven alone, unless such touching is skin to skin. NRS 201.230 does not require skin-to-skin contact. Rather, it requires a lewd or lascivious act upon or with the body. Regardless, during trial, G.W. specifically stated on multiple instances that Jenkins actually put his hands down her pants. VI AA 1279, 1326; see NRS 193.200; see also Sharma v. State, 118 Nev. 648 (2002) (Intent may be proved by circumstantial evidence. It rarely can be established by other means. The prosecution is not required to present direct evidence of a defendant's state of mind as it existed during the

_

⁵ The appendix submitted by Appellant is missing page 1160-1223 of closing arguments and the verdict. It is the appellant's responsibility to ensure that the record on appeal contains the material to which exception is taken. "If such material is not contained in the record on appeal, the missing portions of the record are presumed to support the district court's decision, notwithstanding an appellant's bare allegations to the contrary." *Riggins v. State*, 107 Nev. 178, 182, 808 P.2d 535, 538 (1991), *rev'd on other grounds*, 504 U.S. 127, 112 S.Ct. 1810, 118 L.Ed.2d 479 (1992).

commission of a crime.). G.W. described the areas where Jenkins would touch her as her private parts. Id., 727. Jenkins points to the distinction of whether the touching was proven to be under the clothes to mean a reasonable juror could not conclude that Jenkins touched G.W. with the proscribed intent. Although there was ample testimony that Jenkins touched G.W. under her clothing, Jenkins asks this court to consider this as not having the requisite intent. OB, pg. 17. This argument is inconsistent with Nevada law because it would require this Court to reweigh the evidence and view it in a light most favorable to Jenkins. Watson, 130 Nev. at 781, 335 P.3d at 169 (the evidence is reviewed in the light most favorable to the State, not the defendant); Gaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 638, 650, 119 P.3d 1225, 1233 (2005) ("The jury determines the weight and credibility to give conflicting testimony."). There was substantial evidence as to Jenkins' intent, as seen in his continued relationship with her even after told to stop, his asking if she was uncomfortable, him telling her to exit the equipment room separate from him, him looking around as seen in surveillance footage from above the arcade in Exhibit 20 admitted at trial, etc.

As this Court has recognized, child sexual assault victims may "have difficulty recalling exact instances when the abuse occurs repeatedly over a period of time." *Rose v. State*, 123 Nev. 194, 203, 163 P.3d 408, 414 (2007).

When pressed during cross-examination, G.W. stated exactly that phenomenon. VI AA 717. It was also evident that G.W. was nervous while testifying because two breaks had to be taken during her testimony. *See Id.* at 649, 670, 689. Through defense cross-examination, it was made clear that G.W. has testified that Jenkins placed his hands down her pants in all four locations.

A reasonable juror could have concluded that Jenkins abused G.W. with the requisite intent at all four locations after considering the exhibits offered and G.W.'s disclosure to law enforcement and her sworn testimony in court. Moreover, the jurors could have resolved the question of intent in favor of the State because she explained that Jenkins had asked her if she was uncomfortable, Jenkins was described as rubbing up and down her buttocks, and testimony showed Jenkins was told on numerous occasions to correct his conduct with G.W., yet he persisted. G.W. also testified that Jenkins repeatedly did this to her when they were alone together, which is consistent with her previous testimony. A reasonable juror could have found the elements of lewdness with a child beyond a reasonable doubt for all four counts, especially after viewing the evidence discussed above in the light most favorable to the prosecution. The evidence related to all four

counts was sufficient, and this Court should affirm the judgment of conviction.

Jenkins asks this Court to adopt a new standard with regard to the intent required in NRS 201.230. There is no question in Nevada that a touching over the clothing may still amount to a violation of NRS 201.230. Nevada has accepted the standard adopted by California, as Jenkins suggests Nevada may. OB 17; *State v. Catanio*, 120 Nev. 1030 (2004). "An act committed 'with' the minor's body indicates that the minor's body is the object of attention, and that language does not require a physical touching by the accused." *Catanio*, 120 Nev. at 1033-1034. In *Catanio*, this Court considered all published Nevada opinions at the time.⁶ There was no

⁶ See, e.g., Crowley v. State, 120 Nev. 30, 31–32, 83 P.3d 282, 284 (2004) (defendant rubbed male victim's penis outside of clothing and performed fellatio on victim, and fondled female victim's breasts and vagina); Ramirez v. State, 114 Nev. 550, 553, 958 P.2d 724, 726 (1998) (defendant touched victim on her genitals); Scott E., a Minor v. State, 113 Nev. 234, 236, 931 P.2d 1370, 1371 (1997) (defendant allegedly touched victim's vaginal area and had victim touch his exposed penis); Griego v. State, 111 Nev. 444, 448, 893 P.2d 995, 998 (1995) (defendant fondled child victim), abrogated on other grounds by Koerschner v. State, 116 Nev. 1111, 1116, 13 P.3d 451, 455 (2000); Carroll v. State, 111 Nev. 371, 372, 892 P.2d 586, 587 (1995) (defendant fondled victim's legs, thighs and vaginal area); State v. Purcell, 110 Nev. 1389, 1391, 887 P.2d 276, 277 (1994) (defendant allegedly fondled victim's breasts and buttocks); Taylor v. State, 109 Nev. 849, 850, 858 P.2d 843, 844 (1993) (defendant touched victim between her legs as she sat on his lap); Keeney v. State, 109 Nev. 220, 223, 850 P.2d 311, 313 (1993)

decision made by the Court that lewdness does not include touching above the clothing. This Court "agree[d] with California's interpretation of what must be proven to establish the elements of the crime of lewdness."

(defendant touched victim's "'private spot' "with his tongue), overruled on other grounds by Koerschner, 116 Nev. at 1116, 13 P.3d at 455; Sterling v. State, 108 Nev. 391, 393, 834 P.2d 400, 401 (1992) (defendant engaged in sexual acts with victim); Walstrom v. State, 104 Nev. 51, 52, 752 P.2d 225, 226 (1988) (slides revealed defendant engaged in lewd acts with child), overruled in part on other grounds by Hubbard v. State, 112 Nev. 946, 948, 920 P.2d 991, 993 (1996); Passama v. State, 103 Nev. 212, 216, 735 P.2d 321, 324 (1987) (defendant confessed through coercion to touching victims' vaginas); Sheriff v. Frank, 103 Nev. 160, 162, 734 P.2d 1241, 1242 (1987) (defendant allegedly touched victim's chest and genitals); Meador v. State, 101 Nev. 765, 767, 711 P.2d 852, 853-54 (1985) (defendant pulled girls' nightshirts up to photograph them); Sheriff v. Miley, 99 Nev. 377, 379-80, 663 P.2d 343, 344 (1983) (defendant attacked and possibly sexually penetrated victim); Meyer v. State, 95 Nev. 885, 886, 603 P.2d 1066, 1066 (1979) (defendant allegedly forced child to perform fellatio), overruled by Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 851, 34 P.3d 540, 544 (2001); Maes v. Sheriff, 94 Nev. 715, 716, 582 P.2d 793, 794 (1978) (defendant forced victim to fondle defendant's genitals and licked victim's penis and groin); Findley v. State, 94 Nev. 212, 214, 577 P.2d 867, 867 (1978) (defendant placed hand on victim's genitals), overruled by Braunstein v. State, 118 Nev. 68, 75, 40 P.3d 413, 418 (2002); Green v. State, 94 Nev. 176, 177-78, 576 P.2d 1123, 1124 (1978) (defendant rolled victim's shirt up); Summers v. Sheriff, 90 Nev. 180, 181, 521 P.2d 1228, 1228 (1974) (defendant allegedly pulled victim's bottoms down, photographed her and masturbated in front of her); Sheriff v. Dearing, 89 Nev. 255, 255, 510 P.2d 874, 874 (1973) (defendant allegedly performed cunnilingus on victim); Martin v. Sheriff, 88 Nev. 303, 305, 496 P.2d 754, 755 (1972) (defendant allegedly inserted penis into victim); Farrell v. State, 83 Nev. 1, 2, 421 P.2d 948, 948 (1967) (defendant allegedly touched victim inside her panties).

Catanio, 120 Nev. at 1036. As stated by Jenkins, a lewd touching can occur through a victim's clothing, and does not depend on contact with bare skin or "private parts" of either the defendant or the victim. OB 17; People v. Martinez, 11 Cal. 4th 434, 903 P.2d 1037 (1995). The jury's verdict was amply supported.

- B. The district court did not plainly err by allowing expert testimony regarding "grooming."
 - 1. Additional Facts

Prior to the initial trial date of August, 2020, the State noticed John S. Pacult, LCSW, as an expert who would testify regarding the grooming; victim dynamics, including but not limited to conduct before, during and after abuse; and offender dynamics, including behavior types and conduct. I AA 42. However, the trial was continued to April, 2021, and Mr. Pacult was not available for the new trial date. Subsequently, prior to the April, 2021 trial date, the State noticed Dr. Blake Carmichael, Ph. D, as an expert who would testify regarding the "the dynamics of child sexual abuse victims, including but not limited to conduct of the child before, during and after the abuse; and offender dynamics, including behavior types and conduct," and "disclosure of child sexual abuse by the child, including but not limited to timing of delayed disclosure, and how disclosure is made;" and the impacts of child abuse on children, including but not limited to

physical, social and emotional responses that a child may have." II AA 416.

A pretrial evidentiary hearing occurred on April 15, 2021, where the Court considered Jenkins' motion to exclude Dr. Carmichael as an expert. III AA 571.

As part of that hearing, the State offered testimony from Dr. Carmichael regarding grooming behavior and victim disclosure. Id. at 578-521. Dr. Carmichael described the grooming process in steps, which includes where the sexual predator engages in a series of behaviors to gain the child's trust or confidence. The grooming process also commonly involves behaviors that lower inhibitions in terms of engaging in sexual behavior. Id. Jenkins objected to the testimony of Dr. Carmichael as an expert witness, claiming that testimony of Dr. Carmichael was not relevant or reliable under the *Hallmark*⁷ analysis. II AA 432. On April 19, 2021, the district court issued an order regarding Jenkins' motion to preclude testimony of Dr. Carmichael. The district court cautiously considered the rubric laid out in NRS 50.275, Hallmark v. Eldridge, 124 Nev. 492 (2008), and *Higgs v. State*, 126 Nev. 1 (2010). Of note, the district court mentioned it had already held admissible prior acts associated with grooming

⁷ Hallmark v. Eldridge, 124 Nev. 492, 189 P.3d 646 (2008).

behavior. The district court found Dr. Carmichael's testimony admissible. III AA 621.

During trial, the State offered testimony from Dr. Carmichael consistent with its notice of expert witness. At the time of trial, Dr. Carmichael had been a psychologist for 20 years. VI AA 1436. The majority of his time is spent working with patients, both individually for therapy, working with families, but he also performs assessments, and evaluations, and makes recommendations for treatment, and he has trained other professionals in his areas of expertise. *Id.* at 1437. He has also taken classes regarding child sexual abuse throughout his 20 years of practice. *Id.* at 1439.

Dr. Carmichael testified about his familiarity with the concept of "grooming," which he described as "grooming in a sexual relationship is kind of a couple different levels. One, establishing contact. And then ongoing contact. And then trust with that individual. And once that's established, then integrating sexual contact in to the existing relationship that is there." "Gaining access, ongoing access, and then sexual access to the child where other people are not aware of that, so that it can maintain that secrecy or others not knowing about it. *Id.* at 1440-1441. Dr. Carmichael testified regarding the types of behavior constituting

"grooming" and described the conduct as regular activities to start, ways in which closeness can be built. Dr. Carmichael described the contact to become more sexualized, coupled with more enjoyable thing, which then becomes a way the child relates to a person. *Id.* 1441-1442. Dr. Carmichael described how grooming can becomes more coercive and aggressive, "[but]...you don't have to be coercive or aggressive to maintain secrecy or not talk about sexual abuse." *Id.* 1442.

Dr. Carmichael also addressed specific conduct that may correlate to grooming. Specifically, going to get food together and going on trips together, both represent ongoing access and activities that are otherwise typical as part of the relationship. Dr. Carmichael described how "[m]ost child abuse occurs with an ongoing, trusting, often loving relationship. *Id.* 1443. Dr. Carmichael further referenced how it is a misnomer to think that all victims are angry or hate their perpetrators, oftentimes the victims love them and rely on them. Id. Dr. Carmichael further described how grooming can relate to physical touch, and how touching can become coupled with something more enjoyable to normalize the touching. *Id.* Dr. Carmichael further described the impact this conduct can have on a child, to include confusing a child due to their enjoyment of being with the person and liking them. *Id.* 1445. A child going through a difficult time may be

impacted by a person being the relationship with the child where they feel valued, special and get attention, despite the fact that they are being abused by the person. *Id.* 1447. Dr. Carmichael did not provide any opinion with regard to Jenkins conduct in this case.

Dr. Carmichael discussed disclosure of sexual abuse from children, and described the differences in disclosure from children being abused sexual. Dr. Carmichael described how most children delay disclosing sexual abuse. *Id.* 1449. Dr. Carmichael further described that "[i]f a child is being sexually abused, even when asked directly about sexual abuse occurring, many kids deny that the abuse has occurred." *Id.* 1450. Dr. Carmichael described how many researchers in that area have shown children to be reluctant to talk about sexual touch. *Id.* Dr. Carmichael described the disclosure process as not being a "one-time gig" for children. *Id.* 1451. Dr. Carmichael did not provide any opinion with regard to G.W.'s disclosure in this case, or whether G.W. was sexually abused.

2. Standard of Review

Generally, a district court's decision to admit expert testimony regarding grooming behavior is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See e.g., Perez v. State*, 129 Nev. 850, 853, 313 P.3d 863, 865 (2013). However, Jenkins did not object to the testimony on the ground he raises in this

appeal, so this Court should employ plain error review. *See Valdez v. State*, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008). Under such an analysis it is the appellant's burden to demonstrate plain or clear error and show that the error affected his substantial rights. *Anderson v. State*, 121 Nev. 511, 516, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005). Put another way, "the burden is on the [appellant] to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." *Id.* (*quoting Green v. State*, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). Regardless, the district court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the expert testimony of Dr. Carmichael.

3. Discussion

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